



AMENDED BYLAWS September 23, 2017





MISSION

To provide our members with reliable, reasonably priced electricity and related services delivered in a safe and efficient manner.

VISION

Beartooth Electric Cooperative is recognized as a member-driven, financially stable and innovative Cooperative well-positioned to meet the challenges of an evolving electric industry.

PLEDGE

The Trustees and Employees of Beartooth Electric Cooperative Pledge to:

- Listen, understand, communicate and act in the best interest of all members.
- Solicit and encourage member involvement.
- Adhere to the highest ethical standards of trust and respect.
- Operate our business in a financially sound and transparent manner.
- Perform our work in a manner that is environmentally and socially responsible.
- Encourage the wise use of energy, and
- Follow the Seven Cooperative Principles. (See inside back cover.)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
ARTICLE I—MEMBERSHIP	5
ARTICLE II—RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF MEMBERS	7
ARTICLE III—MEETINGS OF MEMBERS	9
ARTICLE IV—BOARD TRUSTEES	12
ARTICLE V—MEETING OF BOARD	15
ARTICLE VI—OFFICERS	16
ARTICLE VII—NON-PROFIT OPERATION	18
ARTICLE VIII—DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY	20
ARTICLE IX—SEAL	21
ARTICLE X—FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS	21
ARTICLE XI—AMENDMENTS	22
STATEMENT OF NONDISCRIMINATION	22

ARTICLE I—MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1. Requirements for Membership

A. Any person, firm, association, corporation, business trust, partnership, federal agency, state or political subdivision or agency of a state or political subdivision or other legal entity (hereinafter Person/Entity), shall become a Member (hereinafter Member or Members) of Beartooth Electric Cooperative, Inc., (hereinafter Cooperative), provided that:

1. The Person/Entity has completed, signed, and provided all information required by the Cooperative's Application for Electric Energy Service;
2. The Person/Entity has delivered such application to the Cooperative; and
3. The Person/Entity has received electric energy service or access to service from the Cooperative.

B. No Member may hold more than one membership in the Cooperative, and no membership in the Cooperative shall be transferable, except as provided in these Bylaws.

C. An Application for Electric Energy Service may be rejected if it is determined that the Person/Entity is unwilling or unable to meet the terms and conditions for service contained in the Application for Electric Energy Service. Any Person/Entity whose application is rejected shall be notified of the rejection and the reasons for rejection within thirty (30) days after the determination is made to reject the application. If the notice of rejection is not mailed within thirty (30) days, the applicant shall be accepted for service and membership.

D. Membership shall be recorded in the records of the Cooperative, and the current recorded membership list shall be present at all membership meetings.

E. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article I, Section 1, Part A, any Person/Entity who is paying for and receiving electric energy service from the Cooperative as of September 23, 2012, shall be deemed a Member, and, if such Person/Entity has not been recognized as a Member in the records of the Cooperative, such Person/Entity shall be added as a Member in the records of the Cooperative.

SECTION 2. Joint Membership

Any two persons of those receiving electric energy service from the Cooperative at the same location may apply for a joint membership and, subject to their compliance with the requirements set forth in Section 1 of this Article, may be accepted for such membership. The term Member as used in these Bylaws shall be deemed to include two persons holding a joint membership and any provisions relating to the rights and liabilities of membership shall apply equally with respect to the holders of a joint membership. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the effect of actions by or in respect to the holders of a joint membership shall be as follows:

- A. The presence at a meeting of either or both shall be regarded as the presence of one Member and shall constitute a joint waiver of notice of the meeting.
- B. The vote of either separately or both jointly shall constitute one joint vote.
- C. A waiver of notice signed by either or both shall constitute a joint waiver.
- D. Notice to either shall constitute notice to both.
- E. Expulsion of either shall terminate the joint membership.
- F. Withdrawal of either shall terminate the joint membership.

G. Either but not both may be elected or appointed as an officer or Board Trustee, provided that both meet the qualifications for such office.

SECTION 3. Conversion of Membership

A. A membership may be converted to a joint membership upon the written request of the holder thereof and the agreement by such holder and another party receiving electric energy services from the Cooperative at the same location to comply with the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Cooperative; with such rules, regulations, policies, procedures, and tariffs as are adopted by the Board of Trustees and provided to Members; and with the terms stated in the Application for Electric Energy Service.

B. Upon the death of either person who is a party to the joint membership, or action taken in accordance with Article I, Section 2, Parts E or F, such membership shall be converted to an individual membership for the remaining named Member. However, the estate of the deceased shall not be released from any debts due the Cooperative.

SECTION 4. Purchase of Electric Energy

A. Each Member shall, as soon as electric energy service shall be available, purchase from the Cooperative all electric energy used on the premises specified in the Application for Electric Energy Service, except in such cases as a Member may have interconnected his/her own generation resource with the Cooperative, and shall pay therefore at rates which shall be fixed by the Board. Amounts paid for electric energy in excess of the cost of service are furnished by Members who shall be credited with the capital so furnished as provided in these Bylaws. Each Member shall pay to the Cooperative such minimum amount regardless of the amount of electric energy consumed, as shall be fixed by the Board. Each Member shall also pay all amounts owed to the Cooperative as and when the same shall become due and payable.

B. The Cooperative shall use its best efforts to furnish adequate and dependable electric energy service, although it cannot, and therefore does not, guarantee a continuous and uninterrupted supply of electricity.

SECTION 5. Termination of Membership

A. Any Person/Entity may decline to become a Member by filing a written declaration of membership.

B. The Board may, by resolution and affirmative vote of not fewer than two-thirds (2/3) of all the Members of the Board, expel any Member who refuses or fails to comply with any of the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, rules, regulations, or policies adopted by the Board, but only if such Member shall have been given written notice by the Cooperative that such refusal or failure makes him/her liable to termination of electric energy service and such refusal or failure shall have continued for at least ten (10) days after such notice was given. Any expelled Member may be reinstated by vote of the Board or by vote of the Members at any Annual or Special Meeting. The membership of a Member who, for a period of six (6) months after service is available to him/her, has not made payment of amount due and payable to the Cooperative, or of a Member who has either terminated electric energy service or has had his/her electric energy service terminated from the Cooperative, may be cancelled by resolution of the Board.

C. The membership shall cease when the Member no longer receives access to or electric energy service from the Cooperative.

ARTICLE II—RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF MEMBERS

SECTION 1. Property Interest of Members

Members and former Members holding patronage capital shall have no individual or separate interest in the property or assets of the Cooperative except upon dissolution. Upon dissolution, the property and assets of the Cooperative remaining after all debts and liabilities of the Cooperative are paid shall be distributed among the Members and former Members in the proportion which the aggregate patronage of each bears to the total patronage of all Members and former Members. These distributions shall be made to those for whom the Cooperative has a valid mailing address, during the seven years immediately preceding the date of filing of the Certificate of Dissolution for the Cooperative, or as then otherwise required by applicable law.

SECTION 2. Non-liability for Debts of the Cooperative

No Member shall be individually liable or responsible for any debts or liabilities of the Cooperative.

SECTION 3. Access to Property

A. As determined or required by the Cooperative, each Member or patron shall provide the Cooperative safe and reliable access reasonably necessary to operate the Cooperative safely, reliably, and efficiently or to provide Cooperative services to any real or personal property in which the Member possesses a legal right.

B. Members or patrons shall grant the Cooperative the right to inspect, monitor, operate, repair, maintain, or remove any Cooperative facilities or equipment. Members agree to work with and provide easement to Cooperative for extending new facilities or relocating existing facilities. Members or patrons shall also give the Cooperative access to provide, monitor, measure, or maintain any Cooperative service or to satisfy or facilitate any obligation incurred or right granted by the Cooperative regarding the use of Cooperative equipment.

C. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, the Cooperative owns all Cooperative facilities and equipment. Each Member and patron shall protect all Cooperative equipment and shall install, implement and maintain any protective device or procedure required by the Cooperative.

SECTION 4. Membership List

A. The Cooperative shall maintain a record of current Members in a form permitting the Cooperative to alphabetically list the names and addresses of all Members. Upon thirty-five (35) days prior written notice or request to the Cooperative, a Member who has been an active Member during the immediately preceding twelve (12) months may do the following:

1. An active Member may inspect and copy the Membership List at a reasonable time and location determined by the Cooperative.
2. An active Member may pay the Cooperative a reasonable charge determined by the Cooperative covering the labor and material cost of preparing and copying the Membership List, and the Cooperative must provide the Member a copy of the Membership List.

B. A Member may inspect, copy, or receive a copy of the Membership List only if, as determined by the Board of Trustees, the Member complies with all of the following:

1. The Member's notice or request is made in good faith and for a proper purpose.
2. The Member describes with reasonable particularity the purpose for which the Member will use the Membership List.
3. The Membership List is directly connected with the Member's purpose.

4. The Member completes the Cooperative Request for Information form, acknowledging violation of the terms and conditions within will subject the Member to suspension and/or termination of the Member's membership in the Cooperative.

C. Except as otherwise provided by the Board of Trustees, a Member may not do the following:

1. A Member may not use the Membership List for a purpose unrelated to the Member's interest as a Member.
2. A Member may not use the Membership List to solicit money or property unless the money or property is used solely to solicit Member votes.
3. A Member may not use the Membership List for a commercial purpose.
4. A Member may not sell the Membership List.

SECTION 5. Access to Information

Members shall have access to information relevant to the business of the Cooperative with the exception of information that is deemed proprietary or confidential by law, contract, policy, or these Bylaws. Information shall be supplied to Members through methods including website postings, mailings, special informational meetings, news releases distributed to industry publications, and news media. Information provided to Members shall include the following:

- A. Board Meeting schedule;
- B. Agenda of any official meeting within five (5) business days prior to the meeting;
- C. Approved Minutes of any official meeting within fifteen (15) business days following approval;
- D. Bylaws and policies;
- E. Financial reports and audits;
- F. Strategic plans;
- G. Load forecasts; and
- H. Business agreements and contracts not deemed confidential.

SECTION 6. Initiative Process

The Cooperative recognizes applicable state statute as the guideline for Member proposed initiatives. In addition, Members shall abide by all of the following provisions:

- A. Initiatives to be submitted to the Cooperative Members shall be embodied in a petition.
- B. The petition form to be used is provided by the Cooperative.
- C. The petition form issued will be signed and dated by a Cooperative representative, acknowledging the issue date.
- D. Member signatures on the petition are valid only during the current Annual Meeting cycle.
- E. Members may request that their names be removed from a petition at any time prior to petition submittal.

ARTICLE III—MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

SECTION 1. Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of the Members shall be held during the month of September each year at such place within a county, in the State of Montana, served by the Cooperative, as selected by the Board, and which place shall be designated in the notice of the meeting for the purpose of electing Board Trustees, passing upon reports for the previous fiscal year, and transacting such other business as may come before the meeting. It shall be the responsibility of the Board to make adequate plans and preparations for the Annual Meeting. Failure to hold the Annual Meeting at the designated time shall not cause a forfeiture or dissolution of the Cooperative.

SECTION 2. Special Meeting

A. The Cooperative shall hold a Special Meeting of the Members at a date, time, and location determined by the Board upon the Cooperative's receiving:

1. A resolution of the Board; or
2. A written request prepared by the President; or
3. A written request signed by at least three (3) Trustees; or
4. One or more written petitions signed and dated, within the current annual meeting cycle, by at least ten percent (10%) of Members; and
5. Each page of the petition shall include the purpose for which the meeting is being called, the printed name and address of the signer and his or her telephone number, and the original dated signature.

B. If the Cooperative fails to properly notify the Members of a Special Meeting within forty-five (45) days of receiving any Member petition, then any Member signing the petition may do the following:

1. A Member may set a reasonable time, place and location for the Special Meeting.
2. A Member may properly notify the Members of the Special Meeting.

C. The agenda for a Special Meeting shall be limited to the purpose for which the meeting is called.

SECTION 3. Notice of Members' Meetings

Written or printed notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in case of a Special Meeting or an Annual Meeting at which business requiring special notice is to be transacted, shall state the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called and the matter or matters to be acted upon. Notice shall be delivered not less than ten (10) days nor more than twenty-five (25) days before the date of the meeting, either personally by postal or electronic mail, by or at the direction of the Secretary, or upon a default in duty by the Secretary, by the persons calling the meeting. Notice of a Members' Meeting is deemed delivered when either deposited in the United States mail with prepaid postage affixed, and addressed to each Member at the mailing address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative, or when sent electronically to the e-mail address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative. The inadvertent or unintended failure of any Member to receive notice of an Annual or Special Meeting of the Members shall not invalidate any action, which may be taken by the Members at any such meeting.

SECTION 4. Conduct and Attendance at Members' Meetings

At any meeting of Members, unless otherwise determined by the Board, the President will do the following:

A. The President shall preside at all Members' Meetings.

B. The President may exercise any power reasonably necessary for conducting any Members' Meeting efficiently and effectively.

SECTION 5. Quorum

Five percent (5%) of all Members present in person, or fifty (50) Members present in person, whichever is fewer, shall constitute a quorum for transaction of business at all meetings of the Members. If less than a quorum is present at any meeting, a majority of those present in person may adjourn the meeting without further notice. The minutes of each meeting shall contain a list of the Members present in person.

SECTION 6. Voting

Each membership shall be entitled to only one (1) vote. Voting by mail shall be permitted, as set forth in Section 7, below, so long as the quorum requirements of Members, present in person are satisfied, at any meeting of the Members. The vote-by-mail ballots shall be added to the mail ballots cast or submitted by Members at the meeting, who are present, in person. All questions shall be decided by a majority of the Members voting thereon, except as otherwise provided by law or by the Cooperative's Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. Two or more persons holding a joint membership shall jointly be entitled to one (1) vote and no more upon each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of the Members.

SECTION 7. Mail Ballot

On all Bylaw amendments, Trustee elections in conjunction with the Annual Members' Meeting, and with respect to other motions or resolutions which these Bylaws or Montana law requires membership approval, Members may either: 1) vote by mailing in their mail ballot; or 2) vote by casting their mail ballot at the meeting in which such matters are subject to vote. All other voting arising from the agenda items, other than those items for which mail ballots are permitted, shall take place at the meeting in which such agenda items are subject to vote.

Ballots shall be mailed to all Members.

A. All properly completed ballots received on or before the time and date specified shall constitute a vote. If duplicate ballots are received from a Member, all of that Member's ballots will be disqualified.

B. A Member's failure to receive a ballot by mail does not affect any action taken by mail ballot.

C. As indicated on the ballot, mail ballots shall be returned the accounting firm which is the Cooperative's auditor or to an independent designee approved by the Board. The auditor or designee shall count the ballots received prior to the Annual Meeting, keeping the ballots and the tally of the votes cast in the ballots confidential at a secure location until the ballots and tally of votes cast are submitted to the Credentials and Election Committee for the final count and recording at the Annual Meeting. The auditor or designee shall participate with the Credentials and Election Committee in the ballot count and recording of the ballots at the Annual Meeting.

D. The ballot shall do the following:

1. It shall describe each proposed motion and resolution, and with respect to Trustee election identify all candidates for a Trustee position upon which the Members are asked to vote;
2. It shall provide a written candidate profile prepared by the candidate(s), if provided;
3. It shall provide a reason for the proposed motions and resolutions as required by Montana law, these Bylaws, or to provide information to the Members if any;
4. It shall instruct Members how to complete and when and where to return the ballot.

SECTION 8. Credentials and Election Committee

A. The Board of Trustees shall, at least ten (10) days before any meeting of the Members, appoint a Credentials and Election Committee consisting of an uneven number of Members, not less than five (5) nor more than fifteen (15), who are not existing Trustees or candidates for Trustees, and who are not close relatives or Members of the same household of existing Trustees or known candidates for Trustees to be elected at such meeting. As used in the Bylaws, "close relative" means: son, daughter, mother, father, sister, brother, spouse, stepfather, stepmother, half-sister and half-brother, by blood, by marriage or by adoption, and the spouses of any of the foregoing.

B. In appointing the Committee, the Board shall have regard for equitable representation of the districts served by the Cooperative. It shall be the responsibility of the Committee to pass upon all questions that may arise with respect to the registration of Members, to supervise counting all ballots cast in any election or in any other ballot vote taken, to rule upon the effect of any ballots irregularly marked, and to decide any other questions concerning balloting or elections. The Committee's decisions on all such matters shall be final.

SECTION 9. Announcement of Voting Results

The results of all voting shall be announced after certification by the Credentials and Election Committee and will become effective at that time.

SECTION 10. Order of Business

The order of business at the Annual Meeting of the Members and, so far as possible, at all other meetings of the Members, shall be essentially as follows, except as otherwise established at one of the Board of Trustee's regular monthly meetings in advance of the deadline for publishing the Notice of Annual Meeting:

- A. Report on the number of Members present in person in order to determine the existence of a quorum;
- B. Reading of the Notice of the meeting and proof of the due publication or mailing thereof, or the waiver or waivers of Notice of the meeting, as the case may be;
- C. Reading of unapproved minutes of previous meetings of the Members and the taking of necessary action thereon;
- D. Election of Board Trustees;
- E. Presentation and consideration of reports of officers, Trustees and Committees;
- F. Unfinished business;
- G. New business;
- H. Adjournment.

SECTION 11. Districts

The territory served or to be served by the Cooperative shall be divided into seven (7) districts, each of which shall contain as nearly as practical the same number of Members. Each district shall be represented by one (1) Trustee. The boundaries of the seven (7) districts shall be determined by the Board of Trustees and a description of same shall be kept on file in the principal office of the Cooperative as a part of the official records of the Cooperative.

Not more than ninety (90) days after the Annual Meeting of the Members at which Trustees were elected, the Board shall review the composition of the seven districts and, if it should be found that inequalities in representation have developed which can be corrected by a re-delineation of districts, the Board shall reconstitute the districts so that each shall contain as nearly as practical the same number of Members.

ARTICLE IV—BOARD TRUSTEES

SECTION 1. General Powers

A. The business and affairs of the Cooperative shall be managed by a Board of seven (7) Trustees, which shall exercise all of the powers of the Cooperative required by law, by the Articles of Incorporation, by these Bylaws, or conferred upon the Board by the Cooperative Members.

B. The Board shall have power to make and adopt such policies, rules and regulations, not inconsistent with law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, as it may deem advisable for the management of the business and affairs of the Cooperative.

C. The Board shall ensure that Cooperative Members have access to information relevant to the business of the Cooperative with the exception of information that is deemed proprietary or confidential by law, contract, policy, and these Bylaws. Information available to Members shall include but not be limited to Bylaws, policies, financial reports and audits, minutes of Board Meetings, strategic plans, load forecasts, business plans, agreements with business partners, power supply contracts, and news relating to the Cooperative and the electric energy industry. Information shall be supplied to Members on request and made available through methods including website postings, mailings, special informational meetings, and news releases distributed to industry publications and news media.

D. Before creating or entering into an agreement that results in any direct or indirect obligation for the repayment of long-term indebtedness for financing, directly or indirectly, the construction, maintenance, or operation of power generation facilities exceeding five (5) megawatts capacity, the Board of Trustees must receive a vote of approval from at least 51% of the Members of the Cooperative. The Board shall establish and publish a process for mail-in voting that complies with the principles of Article III, Section 7; conduct a Special Meeting in compliance with Article III, Sections 2, 3 and 4; and employ an independent third party to receive and tabulate the ballots cast. The Cooperative shall not circumvent this restriction by dividing a project or work to be performed subject to this restriction into several contracts, projects or components or by any similar device.

E. Prior to such a vote, the Board shall secure and share with Members an independent analysis of the proposed facility and its potential financial impact on Members. No project may be presented to the Members for consideration without comparative analysis of similar projects; assessment of the financial, engineering, and operations aspects of the project; and examination of its position in an integrated resource plan. The Board shall conduct an informational meeting in each Cooperative district and supply information relevant to the proposed project through methods that include website postings, mailings, special informational meetings, and news releases.

F. The Board shall ensure that the Members are notified of the time frame for review and approval of the annual budget. In addition, the Board will provide Members access to budget information through methods including, but not limited to, website postings, mailings, and news releases.

G. The Board shall provide at least 60-day notice to Members of proposals before the Board approves long-term debt exceeding two (2) years, or enters or amends power contracts exceeding two (2) years. Notice shall include non-confidential information considered or to be considered by the Board in evaluating the proposed action. During the notification period, Members shall be entitled to submit written comments and to comment at the monthly Board Meeting prior to the Board Meeting at which a vote on the proposal is scheduled, at the Board Meeting at which the vote is taken, or at specially scheduled Board Meeting for comments and discussion on the proposal.

SECTION 2. Tenure of Office

A. Each Board Trustee shall represent one of the seven (7) districts and shall be elected in conformance with procedures described as follows:

1. At the Annual Meeting for the year 1972 the Board Trustees representing Districts 1, 3 and 7 shall each be elected to serve three (3) year terms, or until their successors shall have been elected and shall have qualified.
2. At the Annual Meeting for the year 1973 the Board Trustees representing Districts 4 and 6 shall each be elected to serve three (3) year terms, or until their successor shall have been elected and shall have qualified.
3. At the Annual Meeting for the year 1974 the Board Trustees representing Districts 2 and 5 shall each be elected to serve three (3) year terms, or until their successor shall have been elected and shall have qualified.

B. Trustees whose terms expire shall be elected by ballot at each Annual Meeting of the Members by and from the Members to serve three (3) year terms or until their successors are elected and qualified.

C. If the election of Trustees has not been held on the day designated herein for the Annual Meeting, the Board shall cause the election to be held at a Special Meeting of the Members as soon thereafter as reasonable and convenient.

D. No Trustee who has served five (5) consecutive terms of office as an elected Trustee may be reelected to the Board until a successor has completed at least one (1) full term of office.

SECTION 3. Qualifications

A. No person shall be eligible to become or remain a Board Trustee of the Cooperative under the following circumstances:

1. A person shall not be eligible if he/she is not a consuming Member and bona fide resident of the district served or to be served by the Cooperative.
2. A person shall not be eligible if he/she is any way employed by or financially interested in a competing enterprise or a business selling electric energy (excluding net metered customers) or supplies to the Cooperative, or a business primarily engaged in selling electrical appliances, fixtures, or supplies to the Members of the Cooperative.
3. A person shall not be eligible if he/she has been an employee of the Cooperative for any length of time within the immediately preceding five (5) years.
4. A person shall not be eligible if he/she is employed by, is an agent of, or is a close relative of an employee or agent of the Cooperative.
5. A person shall not be eligible if he/she is employed by or materially affiliated with any other Trustee.
6. A person shall not be eligible if he/she owns an interest greater than ten percent (10%) or holds a management position in a business wherein more than ten percent (10%) of the goods sold are sold to the Cooperative or one of its subsidiaries, or a combination thereof.

B. Upon establishment of the fact that a Board Trustee is holding the office in violation of any of the foregoing provisions, the Board shall remove such Board Trustee from office.

C. Nothing contained in this section shall affect in any manner the validity of any action taken at any meeting of the Board.

SECTION 4. Nominations

A. It is the responsibility of the Members to solicit candidates for the election of Trustees. The Trustees shall ensure there are qualified nominees.

B. Any fifteen (15) or more Members acting together may make nominations by petition and the Secretary shall publicize such nominations. Nominations made by petition received at least fifty (50) days before the meeting shall be included on the official ballot.

SECTION 5. Election of Trustees

Elections of Trustees shall be by a form of printed ballot. Each membership of the Cooperative shall be entitled to vote for one (1) candidate from each district for which a Trustee is to be elected. The candidate from each district for which a Trustee is to be elected receiving the plurality of votes cast for that office at such meeting shall be declared elected as Trustee. If, after a recount, there is a tie for a Trustee position, the winner shall be determined by a coin toss.

SECTION 6. Trustee Seating

At the Board Reorganization Meeting immediately following the Annual Membership Meeting, all newly elected Trustees shall sign a statement verifying they are qualified and have no conflict of interest that violates these Bylaws. The newly elected Trustees shall then be seated.

SECTION 7. Removal of Board Trustee

A. Any Member may bring charges against a Board Trustee, and by filing with the Secretary such charges in writing together with a petition signed by at least ten percent (10%) of the Members or three hundred seventy-five (375), whichever is the lesser, may request the removal of such Board Trustee by reason thereof. Such Board Trustee shall be informed in writing of the charges at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting of the Members at which the charges are to be considered and shall have an opportunity at the meeting to be heard in person or by counsel and to present evidence in respect of the charges; and the person or persons bringing the charges against him/her shall have the same opportunity. The question of the removal of such Board Trustee shall be considered and voted upon at the meeting of the Members.

B. Any Board Trustee who fails to attend three (3) monthly meetings in a calendar year without approval from the Board is subject to removal from the Board by majority vote of the other Board Trustees.

SECTION 8. Vacancies

Subject to the provisions of these Bylaws with respect to the filling of vacancies caused by resignation, failure to attend meetings, or removal of Board Trustees by the Members, a vacancy occurring in the Board shall be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining Board Trustees. The appointed Trustee will fill the vacancy until the next Annual Meeting when a Trustee will be elected for the remaining unexpired portion of said term.

The Board must give public notice of such vacancy and shall fill such vacancy within one hundred twenty (120) days of its occurrence.

SECTION 9. Trustee Compensation

A. Without approval of the Membership, Board Trustees may not receive any salaries for their services as Trustees, except Board Trustees shall be covered by liability insurance provided by the Cooperative. Except in emergencies, Board Trustees may not be employed by the Cooperative in any capacity involving compensation.

B. The Board of Trustees may establish a fixed sum, including expenses of attendance, if any, to be allowed for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Trustees or any Committee of the Board of Trustees; or representing the Cooperative at any meeting or on any business whenever representation has been approved by the Board. Board Trustees may also be reimbursed for expenses actually and necessarily incurred in carrying out such Cooperative business or granted a reasonable per diem allowance by the Board. Payments to a Board Trustee will be made on submission of an expense report and report of related activities which shall be noted and included in Board meeting minutes.

ARTICLE V—MEETING OF BOARD

SECTION 1. Regular Meetings

A. All regular meetings of the Board shall be open to Members and the public and conducted in the spirit of Robert's Rules of Order. A regular meeting of the Board shall be held monthly at such time and place within one (1) of the counties served by the Cooperative as designated by the Board. The Board will attempt to schedule regular meetings well in advance and publish notification. Such regular monthly meeting may be held without notice other than such resolution fixing the time and place thereof. Regular Board meetings may be held by conference using electronic communications media, including telephone, if convened in accordance with Section 3 below.

B. A regular meeting of the Board shall be held without notice, immediately after, and at the same place as the Annual Meeting of the Members.

SECTION 2. Special Meetings

The President, designee, or three (3) Board Trustees may call a Special Meeting of the Board. The Secretary shall provide notice of such meeting as hereinafter provided. The President, designee, or Board Trustees calling the meeting shall fix the time and place for the meeting. Special Board Meetings may be held by conference using electronic communications media, including telephone, if convened in accordance with Section 3 below.

SECTION 3. Conference Meetings Using Electronic Communications Media

The Board or any designated Committee of the Cooperative may participate in a Board or Committee meeting by means of conference using electronic media, including telephone, provided all persons entitled to participate in the meeting receive a proper notice of the meeting (See Section 4), and provided that all persons participating in the conference meeting can hear each other simultaneously. A Board Trustee participating in a conference meeting is deemed present in person at the meeting. The Chairperson of the meeting may establish reasonable rules for conducting the meeting by conference using electronic communications media, including telephone.

SECTION 4. Notice of Board Meeting

A. Oral or written notice of the date, time, and place of any Special Meeting of the Board shall be delivered to each Board Trustee either personally, by mail, or by electronic communications media including telephone. The President, designee, or the Board Trustees calling the meeting shall give Trustees at least three (3) working days of notice before the meeting unless Trustees attending the meeting unanimously

agree to a shorter period. If the meeting is to be held by electronic media, including telephone, the person calling the meeting shall provide instructions for participating in the meeting. The person calling the meeting shall maintain a record verifying that participants were notified about the meeting in a timely fashion.

B. Any Member or Board Member may waive in writing any notice of a meeting required to be given by these Bylaws. The attendance of a Member or Board Member at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting by such Member or Board Member, except in case a Member or Board Member shall attend a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting has not been lawfully called or convened.

SECTION 5. Quorum

A majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum, provided, that if less than such majority of the Board is present at said meeting, a majority of the Board present may adjourn the meeting; and provided further that the Secretary shall notify any absent Board Members of the time and place of such adjourned meeting. The act of a majority of the Board Members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws.

ARTICLE VI—OFFICERS

SECTION 1. Number

The officers of the Cooperative shall be a President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and such other officers as may be determined by the Board. The offices of the Secretary and Treasurer may be held by the same person.

SECTION 2. Elections and Term of Office

The officers shall be elected by ballot, annually by and from the Board at the meeting of the Board held immediately after the Annual Meeting of the Members. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as reasonable. Each officer shall hold office until the first meeting of the Board following the next succeeding Annual Meeting of the Members or until his/her successor shall have been elected and shall have qualified. A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board for the unexpired portion of the term.

SECTION 3. Removal of Officers and Agents by the Board

Any officer or agent elected or appointed by the Board may be removed by the Board whenever in its judgment the best interest of the Cooperative will be served thereby. In addition, any Member of the Cooperative may bring charges against an officer, and by filing with the Secretary such charges in writing together with a petition signed by ten percent (10%) of the Members or three hundred seventy-five (375), whichever is the lesser, may request the removal of such officer. The officer against whom such charges have been brought shall be informed in writing of the charges at least ten (10) days prior to the Board meeting at which the charges are to be considered and shall have an opportunity at the meeting to be heard in person or by counsel and to present evidence in respect of the charges; and the Member or Members bringing the charges against him shall have the same opportunity. In the event the Board does not remove such officer, the question of his or her removal shall be considered and voted upon at the next meeting of the Members.

SECTION 4. President

A. The President shall be the principal executive officer of the Cooperative and, unless otherwise determined by the Members or the Board, shall preside at all meeting of the Members and the Board;

B. The President shall sign deeds, mortgages, deeds of trust, notes, bonds, contracts, or other instruments authorized by the Board to be executed, except in cases in which signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Cooperative, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed.

C. The President shall perform all duties incident to the office of President, and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board.

SECTION 5. Vice President

A. In the absence of the President, or in the event of his or her inability or refusal to act, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President.

B. The Vice President shall also perform such other duties as may be assigned to him or her by the Board.

SECTION 6. Secretary

A. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Members and of the Board in electronic format and in books provided for that purpose.

B. The Secretary shall see that all notices are duly given in accordance with these Bylaws or as required by law.

C. The Secretary shall ensure the safekeeping of the corporate books and records and the seal of the Cooperative and affixing the seal of the Cooperative to all documents, the execution of which on behalf of the Cooperative under its seal is duly authorized in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws.

D. The Secretary shall keep a register of the names and post office addresses of all Members.

E. The Secretary shall keep on file at all times a complete copy of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Cooperative containing all of its amendments (which copy shall always be open to the inspection of any Member) and at the expense of the Cooperative, furnish a copy of the Bylaws and all of its amendments thereto to any Member upon request.

F. The Secretary shall, in general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board.

SECTION 7. Treasurer

A. The Treasurer shall be responsible for custody of all funds and securities of the Cooperative.

B. The Treasurer shall be responsible for the receipts of and the issuance of receipts for all monies due and payable to the Cooperative and for the deposit of all such monies in the name of the Cooperative in such bank or banks as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws.

C. The Treasurer shall be responsible for the performance of all duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as may be assigned by the Board.

SECTION 8. Manager

The Board may appoint a Manager who shall perform such duties and shall exercise such authority as the Board may assign.

SECTION 9. Bonds of Officers

The Treasurer and any other officer or agent of the Cooperative charged with the responsibility for the custody of any of its funds or property shall be bonded in such sum and with such surety as the Board shall determine. The Board in its discretion may also require any other officer, agent or employee of the Cooperative to be bonded in such amount and with such surety as it shall determine.

SECTION 10. Compensation

The powers, duties, and compensation of officers, agents, and employees shall be fixed by the Board subject to the provision of these Bylaws.

SECTION 11. Reports

At each Annual Meeting of the Members, the officers of the Cooperative shall submit reports covering the business of the Cooperative for the previous fiscal year. The reports shall describe the condition of the Cooperative at the close of such fiscal year.

ARTICLE VII—NON-PROFIT OPERATION

SECTION 1. Patronage Capital in Connection with Furnishing Electric Energy

The Cooperative shall at all times be operated on a cooperative non-profit basis for the mutual benefit of its patrons. In the furnishing of electric energy service, the Cooperative's operations shall be so conducted that all patrons will, through their patronage, furnish capital for the Cooperative. The Cooperative shall not pay interest or dividends on any capital furnished by its patrons.

SECTION 2. Providing For and Accounting For Patronage Capital Credits

In order to induce patronage and to assure that the Cooperative will operate on a non-profit basis, the Cooperative is obligated to account on a patronage basis to all its patrons for all amounts received and receivable from the furnishing of electric energy service in excess of operating costs and expenses. All amounts paid to the Cooperative in excess of operating costs and expenses are received with the understanding that they are furnished by the patrons' capital. The Cooperative is obligated to pay all such amounts in excess of operating costs and expenses to a capital account for each patron as capital credits. The books and records of the Cooperative shall be set up and kept in such a manner that at the end of each fiscal year the amount of capital, if any, so furnished by each patron is clearly reflected and credited in an appropriate record to the capital account of each patron. The Cooperative shall, within eight and one-half (8½) months after the close of the fiscal year, notify each patron in writing of the amount of capital so credited to the patron's account. All such amounts credited to the capital account of any patron shall have the same status as though they had been paid to the patron in cash in pursuance of a legal obligation to do so and the patron had then furnished the Cooperative corresponding amounts for capital.

SECTION 3. Non-operating Revenue

Non-operating revenue received by the Cooperative, insofar as permitted by law, may be used in the following manner:

- A. Excess funds may be used to pay or offset any losses incurred during the current or any prior fiscal year.
- B. Excess funds may be retained or used as permanent, non-allocated capital.

C. At the discretion of the Board, excess funds may be allocated to its patrons on a patronage basis, and any amount so allocated shall be included as part of the capital credited to the accounts of patrons, as herein provided.

SECTION 4. Assignment of Capital Credits

Capital credited to the account of each patron shall be assignable only on the books of the Cooperative pursuant to written instruction from the assignor. Such assignments may be made only to successors in interest or successors in occupancy in all or a part of such patron's premises served by the Cooperative unless the Board, acting under policies of general applications, shall determine otherwise.

The Board shall have the power at any time upon the death of any patron, who was a natural person, to retire the patron's capital credits immediately under the following conditions. If the legal representatives of the patron's estate shall request in writing that the capital credited to any such patron be retired prior to the time such capital would otherwise be retired under the provisions of these Bylaws, the Board may reach agreement with the legal representatives of such patron's estate to retire capital credited to any such patron immediately upon such terms and conditions, including capital credit discounting, as the Board permitted under approved cooperative policies provided that the financial condition of the Cooperative will not be impaired thereby. The Board shall establish policies and procedures for implementing and conducting any capital credit discounting.

SECTION 5. Retirement Capital Credits

If the Board determines that the financial condition of the Cooperative will not be impaired thereby, the capital credited to patrons' accounts may be retired in full or in part. The Board of Trustees shall determine the method, basis, priority, and order of retirement, if any, for all amounts furnished as capital. In the event of dissolution or liquidation of the Cooperative, after all outstanding indebtedness of the Cooperative has been paid, outstanding capital credits shall be retired without priority on a pro rata basis before any payments are made on account of property rights of Members.

SECTION 6. Contract between Patron and Cooperative

The patrons of the Cooperative, by receiving energy service from the Cooperative, acknowledge that the terms and provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws shall constitute and be a contract between the Cooperative and each patron, and both the Cooperative and the patrons are bound by such contract as fully as though each patron had individually signed a separate instrument containing such terms and provision. The provisions of this Article of the Bylaws shall be called to the attention of each patron of the Cooperative and made readily available and conspicuously evident using all standard means of notification.

SECTION 7. Memberships in Other Organizations

The Cooperative shall not become a Member or purchase stock in any other organization without an affirmative vote of the Members at a duly held meeting, the notice of which shall specify that action is to be taken upon such proposed Membership or stock purchase, provided, however, that the Cooperative may upon the authorization of the Board, purchase stock in or become a Member of any corporation or organization organized on a non-profit basis for the purpose of engaging in furthering the cause of rural electrification, or with the approval of the Administrator of RUS, of any other corporation for the purpose of acquiring electric facilities.

ARTICLE VIII—DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY

SECTION 1. Membership-Approved Dispositions

In accordance with Montana law (MCA 35-18-317), the Cooperative may not sell, lease, exchange, or otherwise dispose of all or any substantial portion of its property or assets unless the following occurs:

- A. The Board appoints three (3) independent appraisers. Each appraiser evaluates the Cooperative's assets and renders an appraisal valuing the cooperative's specified assets.
- B. The Board approves the transaction.
- C. Members are notified at least ninety (90) days in advance of a meeting to vote on disposition of assets or property and the terms of the proposed transaction.
- D. At least thirty (30) days before the Member Meeting, the Cooperative shall invite all the other electric cooperatives in the State of Montana to submit proposals to acquire the Cooperative's specified assets.
- E. Members are mailed, at least thirty (30) days before the Member Meeting, any alternative proposal made by Cooperative Members, if it has been submitted to the Board with dated signatures, printed names, addresses and phone numbers of fifty (50) or more Members.
- F. At least two-thirds (2/3) of the total membership approves the transaction in person at the Meeting and by mail ballot.

SECTION 2. Mortgage or Encumbrance

In accordance with these Bylaws and applicable law, the Board of the Cooperative, without authorization by the Members may authorize the execution and delivery of a mortgage or mortgages or a deed or deeds of trust upon, or the pledging or encumbering of, any or all of the property, assets, rights, privileges, licenses, franchises and permits of the Cooperative, whether acquired or to be acquired, and wherever situated. This action applies as well to the revenues and income therefrom, all upon such terms and conditions as the Board shall determine, to secure any indebtedness of the Cooperative to the United States of America or any instrumentality or agency thereof or to any other financing sources within the United States.

SECTION 3. Merger or Consolidation with a Cooperative

The Cooperative may merge or consolidate with any one or more cooperatives by complying with the provisions of Montana law (MCA 35-18-401 or 35-18-402) which includes the following:

- A. The proposal for merger or consolidation and the proposed articles of merger or articles of consolidation shall be approved by the Board of Trustees of the Cooperative.
- B. The proposal for merger or consolidation and the proposed articles of merger or articles of consolidation shall be submitted to a vote of the Members of the Cooperative at an Annual or Special Meeting of the Members. The notice for such meeting shall set forth the full particulars of the proposed merger or consolidation including proposed articles of merger or articles of consolidation.
- C. The proposal for merger or consolidation and the proposed articles of merger or articles of consolidation shall be approved by two-thirds (2/3) of the Members voting at such meeting or by mail.

ARTICLE IX—SEAL

The corporate seal of the Cooperative shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Cooperative and the words “Corporate Seal of The State of Montana.”

ARTICLE X—FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS

SECTION 1. Fiduciary Responsibility

The following persons are Fiduciaries of Beartooth Electric Cooperative: 1) Board Trustees, 2) committee members, and 3) employees who, in addition to fiduciary responsibility defined in these Bylaws, have responsibilities under Montana laws, Cooperative policies, job descriptions, and/or employment contracts.

Every Fiduciary is subject to the provisions of these Bylaws and shall discharge his/her duties solely in good faith and solely in the best interests of the Cooperative and its Members for the exclusive purpose of providing electric energy service. Fiduciaries may not profit from their position with the Cooperative, excluding wages, benefits, and remunerations paid by the Cooperative pursuant to Board approval.

In addition to complying with applicable Board policies, Montana law, and employment contracts, every Fiduciary shall exercise all skill, care, prudence, and due diligence at his/her disposal when acting on behalf of the Cooperative. All actions of a Fiduciary shall be that of a prudent person, familiar with such matters and acting in a similar capacity under the circumstances then prevailing under these Bylaws.

Failure to comply with the duties and responsibilities of a Fiduciary shall be grounds for removal from his/her position.

SECTION 2. Contracts and Obligations

In accordance with Board policies and these Bylaws, the Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Cooperative.

SECTION 3. Checks, Drafts, and Financial Documents

All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, and all notes, bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Cooperative shall be signed and countersigned by such officer or officers, agent or agents, employee or employees of the Cooperative as established by policy which shall be adopted by the Board.

SECTION 4. Deposits

All funds except petty cash of the Cooperative shall be deposited to the credit of the Cooperative in such financial institutions as the Board selects.

SECTION 5. Change in Rates

A. Notice shall be given to Members at least thirty (30) days prior to a vote by the Board to approve any change in Beartooth Electric Cooperative’s energy rates.

B. Notice shall be given to the Wyoming Public Service Commission at least thirty (30) days prior to a vote by the Board to approve any change in Beartooth Electric Cooperative’s energy rates.

C. Notice shall be given to the United States Department of Agriculture, Rural Utilities Service (RUS) thirty (30) days prior to any proposed change in Beartooth Electric Cooperative’s general rate structure as required by the agency.

SECTION 6. Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Cooperative shall begin on the first day of January of each year and shall end on the last day of December of the same year.

SECTION 7. Accounting System, Audit and Reports

The Board shall be responsible to establish and maintain a complete accounting system subject to applicable laws and rules and regulations of any regulatory body and consistent with RUS requirements. An audit of the books and records and other relevant business documents of the Cooperative shall be conducted each year by an independent public accounting firm hired by the Board. A report of such audit shall be submitted to the Members at the following Annual Meeting.

ARTICLE XI—AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed by the Members at any regular or special meeting, provided the notice of such meeting contains a copy of the proposed alteration, amendment, or repeal.

The above and foregoing Bylaws were duly and regularly adopted at a regular Meeting of the Membership of BEARTOOTH ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC., upon due notice being given to the Members and these Bylaws supersede all and any prior adopted Bylaws which are hereby and hereof duly amended through September 23, 2017.

STATEMENT OF NONDISCRIMINATION

“Beartooth Electric Cooperative, Inc.,” is the recipient of Federal financial assistance from the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA). The USDA prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or part of an individual’s income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotope, etc.) should contact USDA’s TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410, or call toll free (866) 632-9992 (voice) or (800) 877-8339 (TDD) or (866) 377-8642 (relay voice users). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

THE SEVEN COOPERATIVE PRINCIPLES

Many businesses use the word “member” to describe their customers. Places like Sam’s Club or Costco and even American Express like to refer to their customers as members. You pay a fee to buy their goods and services, but that is really all you get for the “membership.” No right to vote for the Board of Trustees or to participate in any meaningful way in the organization.

In cooperatives like Beartooth Electric, membership really does mean something more than just the right to buy electricity. Co-ops of all types are founded on seven cooperative principles that give us guidance and strategic direction. Membership also gives you rights as an owner of this co-op.

1

PRINCIPLE #1: Voluntary and Open Membership

Cooperatives are voluntary organizations, open to all people able to use its services and willing to accept the responsibilities of membership, without gender, social, racial, political or religious discrimination.

2

PRINCIPLE #2: Democratic Member Control

Cooperatives are democratic organizations controlled by their members—those who buy the goods or use the services of the cooperative—who actively participate in setting policies and making decisions.

3

PRINCIPLE #3: Member’s Economic Participation

Members contribute equally to, and democratically control, the capital of the cooperative. This benefits members in proportion to the business they conduct with the cooperative rather than on the capital invested.

4

PRINCIPLE #4: Autonomy and Independence

Cooperatives are autonomous, self-help organizations controlled by their members. If the co-op enters into agreements with other organizations or raises capital from external sources, it is done so based on terms that ensure democratic control by the members and maintains the cooperative’s autonomy.

5

PRINCIPLE #5: Education, Training, and Information

Cooperatives provide education and training for members, elected representatives, managers and employees so they can contribute effectively to the development of their cooperative. Members also inform the general public about the nature and benefits of cooperatives.

6

PRINCIPLE #6: Cooperation Among Cooperatives

Cooperatives serve their members most effectively and strengthen the cooperative movement by working together through local, national, regional and international structures.

7

PRINCIPLE #7: Concern for Community

While focusing on member needs, cooperatives work for the sustainable development of communities through policies and programs accepted by the members.

CONNECT WITH US:

PO Box 1110
1306 N Broadway Ave
Red Lodge, MT 59068

406-446-2310
800-472-9821



www.beartoothelectric.com



facebook.com/beartoothelectric



bec@beartoothelectric.com



Sign up for the Beartooth Electric member email, **CONNECTIONS** on our website home page.

SIGN UP TO SUPPORT BEARTOOTH ELECTRIC OPERATION ROUND UP:



“A little change - changes everything”

Sign up today to have your monthly bill rounded up to the nearest dollar to support neighbors in need. Give us a call at 406-446-2310.

